PHOTOCATALYZED PREPARATION OF OXYGENATED HETEROCYCLES

DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2019.22.17

Stefano Crespi, Stefano Protti, Paolo Quadrelli, Maurizio Fagnoni, Davide Ravelli*

Department of Chemistry, University of Pavia, Viale Taramelli 12, 27100 Pavia, Italy (e-mail: davide.ravelli@unipv.it)

Abstract. The synthesis of heterocycles attracts attention among the scientific community, and photocatalytic protocols have emerged as a valuable tool in this area. This peculiar strategy relies on the photocatalyzed formation of ground state high-energy intermediates, affording the desired compounds upon a cyclization step, mostly involving an unsaturated or an aromatic moiety. This is particularly useful for the synthesis of oxygen containing heterocycles. Albeit the formation of oxygenated three or four-membered rings is quite rare, several strategies to build five and six-membered rings, as well as larger heterocyclic rings, are available and have been reported herein. Thus, the synthesis of oxygen heterocycles under the mild conditions typical of the photocatalytic approach represents an added value, in view of the pivotal role of these derivatives in the preparation of more complex target compounds.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Three- and four-membered rings
- 3. Five-membered rings
- 3.1. Tetrahydrofurans and dihydrobenzofurans
- 3.2. γ-Lactones and butenolides
- 3.3. Furans and benzofurans
- 4. Six-membered rings
- 4.1. Chroman derivatives
- 4.2. δ -Lactones and coumarins
- 4.3. Other oxygen heterocycles
- 5. Larger than six-membered rings
- 6. Conclusions
- Acknowledgements
- References

1. Introduction

Oxygenated heterocycles constitute one of the largest and most remarkable families of heterocyclic compounds, often underestimated both from the synthetic and applicative points of view. Nevertheless, the chemistry regarding their synthesis is as rich as their application in an extraordinary variety of chemical fields.

Indeed, furan ring systems are found in many naturally occurring compounds, either as fully unsaturated structures or as (partially) reduced forms. As an example, furfural, deriving from the acidcatalyzed hydrolysis of cereal waste, is cheaply available on large scale. Hence, the industrial method for preparing furans is unusual in its kind, because it is based on renewable starting materials rather than fossil fuels (or other pollutant sources). Several natural compounds containing a fully unsaturated furan ring are terpenoids, such as rosefuran, found in rose essential oil (Figure 1). On the other hand, the reduced form of furan is the typical key structure of pentose sugars, such as ribose and deoxyribose, well-known moieties present in nucleic acids. Moreover, the unsaturated lactone deriving from furan can be found in different structures, including ascorbic acid (vitamin C).^{1,2}

Furans and the related benzo-condensed derivatives also constitute the core of several pharmaceutical compounds. Among the many examples, ranitidine (Zantac) is an important H2-histamine receptor antagonist. Antimicrobials, such as the APIs present in Furin and Niftran, also contain the furan ring. Besides, Lasix is one of the most popular drugs for the treatment of hypertension and hyperplasia (Figure 2).³



Figure 1. Structures of rosefuran and vitamin C.



Figure 2. Structures of Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) in Zantac, Furin, Niftran and Lasix.

Six-membered oxygenated heterocycles (tetrahydropyrans, chromanes, xanthones, flavanones, etc.) are a common structural motif found in natural products, too. Due to the rich array of functionalities and chiral centers that these heterocycles can incorporate, they are widely recognized as useful building blocks for the synthesis of biologically active compounds. Just to cite a few examples, both Kawain (an anticonvulsant) and Lovastatin (an HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, Figure 3) contain the pyran-2-one moiety.



As a consequence, the development of innovative catalytic methods for the preparation of pyran derivatives is of great interest.⁴ Traditional methods for the asymmetric synthesis of six-membered oxygenated heterocycles include five-membered ring expansions, cycloadditions or cyclizations. Recently, asymmetric organocatalysis has become a very attractive methodology in this area.⁵⁻⁹ Hence, several methods exploiting the enantioselective organocatalytic approach to six-membered oxygenated rings have appeared in the literature and they have been recently reviewed.¹⁰ *Cis* and/or *trans*-2,6-disubstituted tetrahydropyrans I (THPs), substituted spiroketals II, or benzoannulated spiroketals III (Figure 4) are incorporated in a large number of natural and non-natural compounds possessing biological relevance. Consequently, the development of efficient tactics and methods to access THPs and spiroketals is a highly important goal.¹¹



Figure 4. Structures of 2,6-disubstituted tetrahydropyrans I, spiroketals II, and benzoannulated spiroketals III.

18

The synthesis of these ubiquitous oxygenated heterocycles was recently achieved *via* chemo- and diastereoselective metal-catalyzed procedures. *Trans*-2,6- and *cis*-2,6-disubstituted THPs, along with benzoannulated spiroketals of various ring size, were obtained following an easy one-pot strategy.¹¹

Six-membered oxygenated heterocycles fused to aromatic rings in a tricyclic scaffold give rise to the remarkable family of xanthones. Xanthones or 9*H*-xanthen-9-ones (dibenzo-γ-pirones) belong to an important class of oxygenated heterocycles whose role is well-known in medicinal chemistry. Indeed, recent reviews presented an array of biological and pharmacological effects attributed to both natural and synthetic xanthones.¹² The relevance of such derivatives as therapeutic agents, their use as pharmacological tools and their role as extract components in folk medicine attracted the attention of several research groups, interested in studying novel synthetic approaches to xanthones.¹³

Five- and six-membered heterocycles can be undoubtedly considered as the two pillars of cyclic organic compounds. It is worth mentioning the role of both smaller and larger oxygenated heterocycles. The well-known three-membered epoxy ring is widely used in organic synthesis due to the easy preparation and tendency to undergo C-O bond cleavage. The C-C bond fragmentation in oxiranes is, on the other hand, quite uncommon, but the ring expansion of epoxides fused with carbocyclic rings is a well-known strategy to prepare large heterocyclic rings.¹⁴ Compared to the more common five- and six-membered oxygenated-rings, oxepanes represent a rare structure found in nature. Nevertheless, natural products with significant biological activities possess either one (or multiple) oxepane subunits fused to other oxygenated heterocycles. Therefore, a large number of methods have been designed to access these structures with a special attention on metal-catalyzed coupling reactions.¹⁵

Recently, homogeneous gold catalysis has revealed its vast potential in the synthesis of both oxygenated and nitrogen-containing rings. As an example, building such structures starting from alkynes following this strategy is a valuable, versatile and synthetically appealing method.¹⁶ In the case of oxygenated heterocycles, external nucleophilic oxidants such as pyridine or quinoline *N*-oxides are usually employed in this procedure. The usual mechanism involves the generation of an alkenylgold intermediate (possibly evolving into a α -oxo gold carbene species), and allows a broad range of *N*- and *O*-heterocycles to become readily accessible (Figure 5).¹⁷



Figure 5. Gold-catalyzed synthesis of *N*- and *O*-heterocycles starting from C=C triple bonds.

Photocatalytic methodologies are also at work in this field. These reactions make use of a *photo*catalyst (**PC**) activated by light absorption and are considered a green and sustainable approach in organic synthesis.¹⁸⁻²⁴ Moreover, the mild reaction conditions produce a reduced amount of waste. By using the photocatalytic approach, the straightforward formation of valuable reactive intermediates, such as radicals or radical ions,^{25,26} is feasible. These intermediates have been employed for the preparation of heterocycles either *via* the functionalization of a pre-formed heterocyclic ring or through the formation of a ring *via* a cyclization step, as depicted in Scheme 1. Thus, the excited photocatalyst (**PC***) may cleave homolytically the C-H bond in various organic compounds acting as hydrogen donors (R-H, path *a*).²⁷ The resulting radicals are then used for the synthesis of heterocyclic scaffolds, although this approach has been rarely used. However, **PC*** is able to accept/donate electrons to a substrate R-X (path *b*) and either the resulting radical cations (or anions) or the radicals obtained from their fragmentation (with the concomitant

loss of X^+/X^- , path *c*) can be likewise used in organic synthesis. In the latter approach the presence of a redox-auxiliary group X has the role to facilitate the electron transfer step.^{28,29}



Scheme 1. Main pathways for the preparation of heterocycles by a photocatalytic approach (PC=photocatalyst).

Photocatalysts may belong to different classes, including aromatic ketones, cyanoarenes, dyes or other organic compounds (*e.g.* pyrylium salts), as well as metal complexes (based on Ru^{II} or Ir^{III} derivatives),¹⁸⁻²⁴ and most of them are visible light absorbing species.

The redox potential values of representative PCs used in the synthesis of heterocycles are resumed in Table 1. The excited state of the PCs may oxidize (E^*_{RED} (PC*/PC⁻) up to +2.30 V vs SCE) or reduce (E^*_{OX} (PC^{+/}PC⁺) up to -1.76 V vs SCE) the desired organic compounds, delivering the corresponding radical-ions or radicals (if the reagents are charged).

The photocatalyzed construction of heterocyclic rings was previously discussed in pertinent reviews.³⁰⁻³⁸ Here, we aim to present some recent advances on the application of photocatalyzed approaches for the construction of mono-oxygenated heterocycles, as detailed below.

Photocatalyst (PC) ^a	E _{RED}	Eox	E* _{red}	E*ox	Ref.
	(PC/PC ⁻)	(PC**/PC)	(PC*/PC ⁻)	(PC**/PC*)	
Rose Bengal	-0.78	1.09	0.99	-0.68	20
Acr ⁺ Mes	-0.43		2.08		20
Eosin Y	-1.14	0.72	1.18	-1.60	20
DCA	-0.89		1.97		20
DCN	-1.28		2.19		39
\mathbf{TPT}^+	-0.35		2.30		24
T(p-OMe)PPT			1.74		40
T(p-F)PPT			2.28		41
Phenanthrene	-2.49	1.83	1.10	-1.76	20
mpg-C ₃ N ₄	-1.39	1.22			42
$Ru(bpy)_3^{2+}$	-1.33	1.29	0.84	-0.86	30
$Ru(bpz)_3^{2+}$	-0.80	1.86	1.45	-0.26	30
$Ru(phen)_3^{2+}$	-1.36	1.26	0.82	-0.87	30
[(DPEphos)(bcp)Cu]PF ₆				-1.02	43
$fac-Ir(ppv)_3$	-2.19	0.77	0.31	-1.73	30
[Ir[dF(CF ₃ ppy)] ₂ (dtbbpy)]PF ₆			1.21		44
$Ir(ppy)_2(dtbbpy)^+$	-1.51	1.21	0.66	-0.96	30

Table 1. Redox potentials (in V vs SCE) of selected photocatalysts (PCs).

^aAcr⁺Mes=9-mesityl-10-methylacridinium cation; DCA=9,10-dicyanoanthracene; DCN=1,4-dicyanonaphthalene; TPT⁺=2,4,6-triphenylpyrylium cation; T(p-OMe)PPT=2,4,6-tris(4-methoxyphenyl)pyrylium tetrafluoroborate; T(p-F)PPT=2,4,6-tris(4-fluorophenyl)pyrylium tetrafluoroborate; mpg-C₃N₄=mesoporous graphitic carbon nitride;

bpy=(2,2'-bipyridine); bpz=2,2'-bipyrazine; phen=1,10-phenanthroline; ppy=2,2'-phenylpyridine.

21

2. Three- and four-membered rings

The synthesis of three-membered heterocycles under photocatalyzed conditions is rarely found in the literature. In one of such instances, epoxides were formed starting from the corresponding alkenes, using *t*BuOOH (or O_2) as oxygen source. Recent examples of this strategy include the Ru^{II} photocatalyzed reaction of styrenes with aromatic aldehydes for the synthesis of α , β -epoxy ketones⁴⁵ and the epoxidation of cyclic olefins with titanium dioxide-cobalt-ascorbic acid nanohybrid as photocatalyst.⁴⁶ In the latter case, epoxides were formed in very high yields (up to quantitative) and, noteworthy, the catalytic system could be reused (up to five times). A more versatile approach is shown in Scheme 2, where both CF₃-containing epoxides and aziridines were prepared starting from allyl alcohols and allyl amines, respectively.⁴⁷ In the example, the CF₃ radical generated by the Ru^{II}-photocatalyzed reduction of CF₃I adds to the double bond of the allyl alcohol **2.1**. A further oxidation, followed by iodide addition, allows the formation of the iodoalcohol **2.4**. An ensuing intramolecular cyclization forms the desired epoxide **2.2** in very good yields (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of epoxides via the photocatalyzed trifluoromethylation of allylic alcohols.

Although the photochemical formation of oxetanes is well known in the literature (*e.g.* the Paternò-Büchi reaction), to our knowledge no related photocatalyzed syntheses have been described so far.

3. Five-membered rings

3.1. Tetrahydrofurans and dihydrobenzofurans

Natural compounds having medicinal or biological features, such as polyether antibiotics, marine macrolides and annonaceous acetogenins, contain the tetrahydrofuran ring and, accordingly, there is an urgent need to design photocatalytic reactions to access this core structure.^{48,49}

A possible approach involves the intramolecular anti-Markovnikov hydroetherification of alkenols.⁵⁰ In details, the oxidation of alkenol **3.1** (having oxidation potential <+2.0 V vs SCE) to **3.1**⁺⁺ was carried out by using Acr⁺Mes (E^*_{RED} (PC*/PC⁻)>+2.0 V vs SCE) as the photocatalyst⁵¹ (Scheme 3). Tetrahydrofuran **3.3** was then obtained in a high yield when 2-phenylmalononitrile **3.5** was added as H-atom donor. The same group employed this approach to prepare again tetrahydrofurans from allylic alcohols and alkenes by a polar-radical-crossover cycloaddition (PRCC) reaction.⁵²

Trifluoromethylated heterocycles have attracted considerable interest in various fields of chemistry, owing both to the importance of fluorine in medicinal chemistry and to the application of heterocycles in the pharmaceutical, agrochemical, and materials industries.⁵³⁻⁵⁵ Indeed, the addition of fluorinated radicals onto the olefinic moiety of alkenols (*e.g.* cycloalkenylalkanols **4.1**) was recently reported. Compound **4.2** or the Umemoto's reagent **4.3** have been adopted as fluoromethylating agents to give intermediates **4.4** *via* the addition of the fluorinated radical onto the unsaturated bond. Carbocation formation upon SET oxidation followed by intramolecular addition of the tethered nucleophilic alcohol gave rise to the predominant formation of the anti-fluoromethylated spiroethers **4.5** or **4.6** when working at low temperatures (Scheme 4).⁵⁶ The same approach was applied to the derivatization of styrenes bearing an alcoholic group (in this particular case, α -bromoesters were employed as radical source) to form tetrahydrofurans maintaining the same anti-diastereoselectivity in the cyclization step.⁵⁷



Scheme 3. Construction of the tetrahydrofuran ring by the photocatalyzed anti-Markovnikov hydroetherification of alkenols.



Moreover, the intramolecular oxyarylation of alkenols (*e.g.* substituted 4-penten-1-ols **5.1**) was recently reported to take place in the presence of arenediazonium salts **5.2** under a dual gold/photoredox catalysis procedure (Scheme 5).⁵⁸ The process starts with the complexation of the olefinic moiety in **5.1** by a cationic Au¹ species to form the alkyl-gold¹ intermediate **5.3** in an anti-selective fashion (cycle **B**). An aryl radical (formed *via* the Ru^{II} photocatalyzed reduction of **5.2**, cycle **A**) was trapped by **5.3** and the resulting Au^{II} intermediate **5.4** restored the photocatalyst and benzyl tetrahydrofuran **5.6** was obtained *via* reductive elimination along with the starting Au¹ catalyst.



Scheme 5. Dual gold/photoredox catalysis for the preparation of benzyl tetrahydrofurans.

A different approach made use of phenylsulfanyl substituted aromatic alkanols. These compounds $(E_{OX}=+0.72 \text{ V } vs \text{ SCE})$ are easily oxidized by excited $Ru(bpy)_3^{2^+}$ (E^*_{RED} (PC^*/PC^-)=+0.84 V vs SCE) causing the release of the phenylsulfanyl group. The benzyl cation thus formed was trapped by the alcoholic moiety leading to the desired oxygen containing heterocycle.⁵⁹

The tetrahydrofuran core was likewise prepared by the photocatalyzed reduction of a bis-enone (6.1, Scheme 6).⁶⁰ A thiourea served as Lewis acid for the activation of the carbonyl, in turn favoring the Eosin Y photocatalyzed formation of the corresponding radical anion, that finally led to the desired tetrahydrofuran ring upon cyclization. The reaction was based on the umpolung of the α , β -unsaturated moiety and the mandatory presence of DIPEA and Hantzsch ester as reductive quenchers allowed the reaction to proceed in high yields and excellent diasteroselectivity.⁶⁰

A photoredox atom-transfer Ueno-Stork reaction has been adopted for the preparation of biologically interesting oxabicyclic compounds (Scheme 7).⁶¹ These derivatives were formed in the presence of an Ir based catalyst by irradiation (with a CFL lamp) of 2-iodoethyl propargyl (or allyl) ethers (*e.g.* **7.1**) with retention of the halogen functionality. The proposed mechanism (Scheme 7) involves the reduction of α -haloacetals **7.1** (E_{RED}=-0.55 V *vs* SCE) by the excited Ir^{III}* catalyst to afford radicals **7.2**. Products **7.3** result after an atom transfer radical addition/cyclization (ATRA/ATRC) onto the double/triple bond.⁶¹



Scheme 6. Bis-enones as starting materials for the construction of the tetrahydrofuran ring.



Scheme 7. Oxabicyclic tetrahydrofurans from 2-iodoethyl propargyl (or allyl) ethers 7.1.

Interestingly, also valuable chiral tetrahydrofurans may be formed starting from substituted 1,2-diols by a visible-light-mediated deoxygenative cyclization (Scheme 8). This procedure involves a 5-*exo-trig* ring closure of a carbon bearing an oxygen based activating group onto an allyl ether moiety. Tartrate derivatives (in this case the activating group is the 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzoate scaffold in **8.2** or the ethyl oxalate in **8.3**), readily available in either enantiomerically pure form, were hence cyclized intramolecularly. Tetrahydrofuran **8.1** was formed in a diastereomeric ratio up to (>95:5) starting from both compound **8.2** (condition **A**) or **8.3** (condition **B**) under irradiation at 80 °C with or without the presence of a sacrificial amine, respectively. Both mechanisms likely involve an electron transfer from the excited Ir^{III}* photocatalyst to the activating group, followed by C-O bond mesolysis giving rise to an α -carboxyethyl radical that smoothly cyclizes.⁶²



Scheme 8. Construction of tetrahydrofurans through deoxygenative cyclization.

The photocatalytic approach was efficiently applied also for the construction of the 2,3dihydrobenzofuran scaffold by means of a [3+2]-cycloaddition between two phenols promoted by $[Ru(bpz)_3](PF_6)_2$ (Scheme 9).⁶³ As an example, the initial oxidation of **9.2** gave the corresponding radical cation 9.2^{++} that, upon reaction with 9.1 and treatment with TBAF, afforded 9.3, a known member of the neolignan family, isolated from *Piper aequale*.



Scheme 9. Photocatalyzed [3+2]-cycloaddition reaction as a tool for the synthesis of 2,3-dihydrobenzofurans.

Another dihydrobenzofuran (δ -viniferin 10.2) was smoothly prepared by a photocatalyzed dimerization of resveratrol 10.1 under air atmosphere. The mesoporous graphitic carbon nitride (mpg-C₃N₄) photocatalyzed oxidation of 10.1 furnished radical 10.3[•] that dimerized and gave rise to 10.2 in a very high yield (Scheme 10).⁶⁴ The presence of molecular oxygen was mandatory since it formed the hydroperoxy radical responsible for the generation of 10.3[•] from 10.1.



Scheme 10. Photocatalyzed dimerization of resveratrol 10.1 to give δ -viniferin 10.2.

A photoorganocatalyst, such as fluorescein, was used for the preparation of dihydrobenzofurans by means of an alkoxycarbonylation of *ortho*-allyl substituted benzenediazonium salts with the formation of methyl 2-(2,3-dihydrobenzofuran-3-yl)acetate.⁶⁵

Photoredox transformations performed by visible light irradiation in the presence of catalytic amounts of a copper catalyst [(DPEphos)(bcp)Cu]PF₆ were applied to a range of unactivated aryl and alkyl halides. These compounds were smoothly activated through a Cu¹/Cu¹*/Cu⁰ catalytic cycle. This complex efficiently catalyzes a series of radical processes, including reductions, cyclizations, and direct arylation of arenes. Scheme 11 shows the application of this protocol to the synthesis of dihydrobenzofurans **11.2**, obtained in very good yields from the corresponding aryl vinyl ethers **11.1**.⁴³



Scheme 11. Cu^I photocatalyzed preparation of dihydrobenzofurans.

3.2. y-Lactones and butenolides

Photoredox catalysis represents an intriguing tool for the preparation of γ -lactones and butenolides, where the ring construction may follow two different pathways, *viz*. a direct cyclization of the substrate or the combination of two different reagents that triggers a cyclization event.

An interesting example pertaining to the first family involves the cyclization of the aryl ketone **12.1** promoted by a Proton-Coupled Electron Transfer (PCET) step (Scheme 12). In this work, the excited photoredox catalyst $\text{Ru}(\text{bpy})_3^{2+}$ and a Brønsted acid operated a reductive PCET with subsequent formation of the long-lived ketyl radical intermediate **12.2**. The cyclization of the latter onto the pendant alkene finally gave γ -butyrolactone **12.3** upon hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) from 2-phenylbenzothiazoline **12.4**. Notably, the reaction occurred with a high degree of diastereoselectivity, largely dictated by the rate of the HAT step.⁶⁶



Scheme 12. Dual photoredox / Brønsted acid catalysis approach for the synthesis of γ -butyrolactones.

A different approach to the same targets involves the double functionalization of a C=C double bond occurring on irradiation with visible light *via* an arylation-lactonization sequence. The process is based on the use of arenediazonium salts and alkenoic carboxylic acids **13.1**. This strategy gives access to a library of diversely functionalized lactones with a sterically hindered γ -quaternary carbon. The proposed mechanism relies on the initial single electron reduction of the employed arenediazonium salt by the excited photocatalyst Ru(bpy)₃^{2+*} (Scheme 13a). The thus formed aryl radical added regioselectively to the alkene moiety of **13.1**, to give radical adduct **13.2**[•]. In the final step, the regeneration of the photocatalyst occurred through oxidation of **13.2**[•] to **13.2**⁺, that further underwent cyclization to give lactone **13.3**.⁶⁷ Noteworthy, this protocol could be adapted to the preparation of phthalide **13.4**, a naturally-occurring compound isolated from *Frullania falczloba* (Scheme 13b).⁶⁷

Another strategy for the synthesis of the γ -lactone core is based on the reaction of styrene 14.1 with α -bromoester 14.2 (Scheme 14). The process involved the intermediacy of radical 14.3', and the desired product 14.4 was formed *via* a hydroxylation/transesterification sequence.⁶⁸

A different approach made use of O-benzyloxime acids and alkenes, resulting in the preparation of substituted α -benzyloxyamino- γ -butyrolactones. In this case, the suggested mechanism involved a polar

radical crossover cycloaddition (PRCC) sequence based on the use of an acridinium photocatalyst and a sub-stoichiometric amount of a redox-active co-catalyst.⁶⁹ Noteworthy, unsaturated acids could also be adopted, as demonstrated by the syntheses of methylenolactocin and protolichesterinic acid.⁷⁰



Scheme 13. a) Phototocatalytic arylation/lactonization sequence for the synthesis of sterically hindered γ , γ -disubstituted butyrolactones and b) application of this protocol to the synthesis of the naturally-occurring compound 13.4.



Scheme 14. Intermolecular addition of α -bromoesters to styrenes for the photocatalyzed synthesis of γ -lactones.

A cascade visible-light photocatalytic difluoroalkylation and intramolecular cyclization reaction has been developed as an easy method for the preparation of functionalized difluoroalkylated oxygen heterocycles (Scheme 15). The reaction was carried out under very mild conditions, affording fluorinated isobenzofuran-1-ones, γ -butyrolactones **15.1** and cyclic ethers with up to 97% chemical yields. As for the mechanism, the present strategy follows a mechanism similar to that reported above in Scheme 13.⁷¹



Scheme 15. Synthesis of fluorinated γ -butyrolactones.

A highly efficient and selective visible-light mediated protocol for the addition of alcohols to a plethora of Michael acceptors was recently investigated. The process is characterized by the use of phenylglyoxylic acid (30 mol%) as the photoorganocatalyst and common household bulbs as the light source. In the reaction, a cyclization step occurred leading to five-membered lactones **16.1** in excellent yields (Scheme 16). The proposed mechanism involved the initial formation of an exciplex between excited phenylglyoxylic acid and the α , β -unsaturated ester having a radical ion pair character. Hydrogen abstraction from the alcohol and addition of the resulting radical to the ester completed this simple, cheap and efficient photoorganocatalytic protocol for γ -lactones synthesis.⁷²

$$\begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ CH_{3} \\ \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} COOR \\ COOR \\ COOR \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} Oh \\ (30 \text{ mol}\%) \\ 72h \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} ROOC \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} OH \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C$$

Scheme 16. Photoorganocatalyzed synthesis of γ -lactones.

The atom-transfer radical addition (ATRA) process between olefins and haloalkanes constitutes a powerful and highly atom economical method for the one-step synthesis of C-C and C-X bonds. Taking advantage of the ATRA reaction, photocatalytic protocols for the synthesis of useful organic compounds, including the intramolecular preparation of γ -lactones, have been reported. Indeed, γ -lactones **17.2** could be prepared having recourse to several photocatalysts according to the mechanism reported in Scheme 17, albeit the highest yields were obtained with [Ru(bpy)₃]Cl₂. Different substituted olefins were competent substrates and the corresponding γ -lactones were smoothly obtained (Scheme 17).⁷³



Scheme 17. Photocatalytic ATRA reaction for the synthesis of γ -lactones.

The preparation of γ -crotonolactone can be achieved through the formation of a new C(sp²)–C(sp²) bond, in the reaction of *tert*-butyl allenoate **18.1** with arenediazonium salts. The process is based on a dual catalytic strategy, where an Au¹-Au^{III} cycle is merged with photoredox catalysis (Scheme 18). The reaction starts with the reaction of **18.1** with the Au^I complex leading to the complexed cyclic species **18.2**. The photocatalytically generated aryl radicals then lead to the formation of the Au^{II} species **18.3**, that is further oxidized by Ru^{III} to the corresponding Au^{III} species. The catalytic cycle is completed *via* reductive elimination from **18.4** to give product **18.5**.⁷⁴



Scheme 18. Preparation of lactones via dual catalytic photoredox-gold strategy.

3.3. Furans and benzofurans

Furans and the related benzo-condensed derivatives are important motifs in several different fields and many photoredox approaches have been developed for their synthesis. As an example, furans have been obtained through the coupling between 2-bromo-1,3-dicarbonyls (*e.g.* **19.1**) and alkynes in the presence of an Ir-complex as the photoredox catalyst (Scheme 19).



Scheme 19. Photocatalyzed synthesis of furan derivatives.

The mechanism is based on the initial photocatalytic activation of the dicarbonyl derivative to give **19.3'** and then **19.4'** upon addition onto the alkyne. A cyclization/oxidation sequence followed by deprotonation completes the catalytic cycle. Indeed, the desired products **19.2** were obtained in variable yields, depending on the electronic character of the substituents on the aryl group of the alkyne. In particular, electron-donating substituents consistently allowed to obtain higher yields.⁷⁵ Later, the protocol was extended to the preparation of furocoumarins **20.2** (Scheme 20a), where the furan ring was fused to a coumarin skeleton.⁷⁶ Furthermore, polysubstituted furans, such as **20.4**, have been prepared from styrenes and α -chloroaryl ketones (*e.g.* **20.3**) under oxidative conditions in the presence of K₂S₂O₈ (Scheme 20b).⁷⁷

The redox neutral photocatalytic divergent radical 1,2-difunctionalization of a wide array of structurally different alkenes with *gem*-dibromides is the basis of a practical approach to the biologically important furan skeleton. To set the optimal conditions, the reaction of *p*-methoxystyrene **21.1** and *gem*-dibromomalonate **21.2** was chosen as the model reaction, wherein biologically important 2-arylated furan **21.3** was obtained in 88% yield (Scheme 21). The reaction is initiated by the addition of the

photogenerated monobromomalonate radical onto the double bond of the styrene. Indeed, electron-donating substituents on the aromatic ring are essential for this transformation.⁷⁸



Scheme 20. Preparation of substituted furans from a) aryl alkynes and b) styrenes.



Scheme 21. Photocatalytic 1,2-difunctionalization of styrenes for the synthesis of furans.

Dual photoredox / gold catalysis has been likewise demonstrated to be a reliable alternative for the preparation of benzofurans (Scheme 22). Indeed, diaryl substituted benzofurans, such as **22.1**, can be easily synthesized from arenediazonium salts and *o*-alkynylphenols. Interestingly, the outcome of the process strongly depends on the electronic character of the substituents on the aryl groups.⁷⁹



Scheme 22. Synthesis of benzofurans via dual photoredox/gold catalysis.

Heteroaromatic compounds, including 3-acylindoles, 3-acylbenzofurans and 3-acylbenzothiophenes, are present as pervasive structural motifs in numerous natural products and biologically active pharmaceutical molecules. A novel visible-light-driven intramolecular decarboxylative cyclization of *o*-alkynylated carboxylic acids in the presence of air, a base and a photocatalyst was adopted for the

synthesis of 3-acylbenzofurans. In this case, alkyl radicals generated *via* decarboxylation underwent intramolecular radical addition to the C=C triple bond (*e.g.* in *o*-alkynylated phenoxyacetic acids **23.1**), followed by C-O bond formation, to give access to the corresponding carbonylated compounds **23.2** (Scheme 23). Interestingly, the same protocol could be likewise adopted for the synthesis of 3-acylindoles and 3-acylbenzothiophenes.⁴⁴



Dibenzofurans are naturally occurring molecules that have received considerable attention for a variety of practical applications, such as in the pharmaceutical and electronic fields.⁸⁰⁻⁸³ An efficient and ecofriendly method for their synthesis relies on an intramolecular aryl-O bond formation, which involved the *in-situ* preparation of a diazonium salt. The transformation required a diazotizing agent and was promoted by the use of a photoorganocatalyst, *viz.* 2,4,6-tris(4-fluorophenyl)pyrylium tetrafluoroborate (T(p-F)PPT), under visible-light irradiation, as depicted in Scheme 24.⁸⁴



Scheme 24. Synthesis of dibenzofuran derivatives.

4. Six-membered rings

4.1. Chroman derivatives

The synthesis of chroman derivatives has been described to occur under several photocatalytic conditions. As an example, the visible light irradiation of substituted benzaldehyde **25.1** in the presence of an Ir^{III} based photocatalyst and an excess of DIPEA as the base resulted in the efficient formation of chromanol **25.3** *via* a PCET reaction occurring on **25.1** to give radical **25.2**[•] followed by cyclization (Scheme 25).⁸⁵

Eosin Y can be also used as the photoorganocatalyst to build the chromane core starting from phenols bearing a polyene unit (*e.g.* 2-geranylphenol) in hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP). In this case, a radical cation intermediate at the terminal alkene moiety was initially generated and then involved in a stereoselective radical cascade cyclization leading to hexahydro-1H-xanthenes in variable yields.⁸⁶ Chromones were

obtained as well *via* addition of a photogenerated fluorinated radical onto the double bond of an enaminone moiety, resulting in the formation of a C-O bond with the concomitant loss of a secondary amine.⁸⁷



Scheme 25. Photoredox catalyzed synthesis of chromanol 25.3.

4.2. δ-Lactones and coumarins

The synthesis of lactones and coumarins usually made use of a cyclization reaction as the key-step. As an example, trapping of the F_3C radical (obtained *via* the photocatalyzed reduction of **26.2**, Scheme 26) by styrene **26.1** afforded the benzyl radical **26.3** that was thus oxidized to the corresponding cation, finally undergoing cyclization to the spiro derivative **26.4** in satisfactory yield and diastereoselectivity.⁸⁸



Scheme 26. Photocatalyzed carbolactonization of alkenoic acid 26.1.

The aerobic dehydrogenative lactonization of alkenoic acids promoted by a cooperative non-metallic catalyst pair relies on the interplay between a photoredox and a selenium- π -acid catalyst, which allows for the regiocontrolled construction of five- and six-membered lactone rings in yields up to 96%.⁴⁰ Notable features of this method are the pronounced efficiency, good functional group tolerance, and high sustainability, since ambient air and visible light are adequate for the clean conversion of alkenoic acids into their respective lactones (Scheme 27). 2-Pyranone derivatives **27.2** were formed through oxidative lactonization of δ -alkenoic acids **27.1** photocatalyzed by a pyrylium salt with the intermediacy of a trimeric selenonium cation.⁴⁰



Scheme 27. Photoorganocatalyzed synthesis of 2-pyranones.

An efficient photoredox-catalyzed alkylation / lactonization reaction between unsaturated carboxylic acids and alkyl *N*-hydroxyphthalimide esters as alkylating reagents has been exploited for the synthesis of δ -lactones in moderate to good yields.⁸⁹ Such redox neutral procedure features mild conditions and operational simplicity and can be applied to the preparation of both five- and six-membered heterocyclic rings (an example in Scheme 28). A reasonable mechanism is based on the reduction of the *N*-hydroxyphthalimide ester by the excited photoredox catalyst [Ir(ppy)₂(dtbbpy)]PF₆ and fragmentation of the resulting radical anion to give an alkyl radical. The intermediate adds onto the C=C double bond of



A different approach made use of the photocatalyzed arylation of substituted alkenes by 2-(alkoxycarbonyl)benzenediazonium tetrafluoroborate salts **29.1** to synthesize isochromanones **29.2** (Scheme 29). The advantage of using highly soluble esters rather than carboxylic acids as starting compounds became apparent when the reactions were performed under flow conditions.⁹⁰ The reaction was initiated by the addition of the (photogenerated) aryl radical onto the double bond.



Scheme 29. Synthesis of isochromanones.

The direct activation and functionalization of C-H bonds is considered one of the most significant challenges in sustainable organic synthesis. Therefore, an operationally simple, efficient and practical C-H functionalization/C-O bond forming strategy is highly desirable.^{91,92} Biaryl lactones and their derivatives are key structural motifs widely present in natural bioactive compounds. In this field, the photoredox and cobalt co-catalyzed oxidant-free oxidative dehydrogenative C-O coupling between C-H/O-H bonds of 2-arylbenzoic acids was recently described, allowing for the convenient synthesis of lactones under mild conditions. The photoinduced dehydrogenative cross-coupling of 30.1 bv using 9-mesityl-10-methylacridinium tetrafluoroborate (Acr⁺Mes BF₄, 2 mol%) as the photocatalyst and Co(dmgH)₂PyCl (4 mol%) as the co-catalyst efficiently led to the desired heterocycle (30.2, 96%) in the presence of PhCOONa as a base (Scheme 30). A variety of 2-arylbenzoic acids has thus been converted to the desired lactones in moderate to high yields. Different substituents on the aromatic rings, including electron-neutral and electron-rich groups, were tolerated. However, the yield dropped to 50% when using 2-arylbenzoic acids bearing the strong electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl group.



Scheme 30. Photocatalytic synthesis of 6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-one 30.2.

Similar and excellent results were obtained by Lei and co-workers,⁹⁴ pointing out the strong attention given by different research groups to this topic.

Alternatively, an operationally simple route to benzo-3,4-coumarins **31.4** from biaryl carboxylic acids **31.1** was described to occur without the need for substrate pre-functionalization. Complementary to classic lactonization strategies, this disconnection relies on the oxidation competence of photoactivated (-)-riboflavin (**RF**, vitamin B2) to generate the heterocyclic core. A photoinduced single electron transfer

(SET) from benzoic acid to the triplet excited state of (-)-riboflavin (E^*_{RED} (${}^{3}RF^*/RF^-$)=+1.46 V vs SCE) was suggested as the key-step (Scheme 31). The catalytic cycle was likely initiated by the protonation of (-)-riboflavin. Subsequent SET process from the carboxylate anion to protonated riboflavin yielded the protonated flavin radical and the *O*-centered radicals 31.2, which can undergo rapid cyclization to intermediates 31.3. Final oxidation and re-aromatization released the products 31.4, while the reduced (-)-riboflavin was in turn reoxidized by molecular oxygen.⁹⁵



Scheme 31. Riboflavin-catalyzed synthesis of benzocoumarins.

Isochromanones and isochromenones were obtained *via* the addition of a photogenerated aryl radical bearing a COOH substituent in the *ortho*- position (in turn obtained *via* Ru^{II} photocatalyzed reduction of differently substituted arenediazonium salts derived from anthranilic acids) onto styrenes.⁹⁶ In alternative, the COOH group may be converted into an alkynoate (see compounds **32.1**, Scheme 32), wherein the cyclization step occurred following the radical addition of a α -oxy radical (generated from THF co-solvent) onto the C=C triple bond. The resulting vinyl radicals **32.3** underwent cyclization affording, after oxidation of the radical adduct, the desired product.⁹⁷ Notably, α -oxy radicals were generated *via* photocatalyzed reduction of the peroxide TBHP and hydrogen atom abstraction operated by the resulting *t*BuO[•] radical. Analogously, coumarins were prepared under metal-free conditions *via* the radical addition of sulfinic acids onto propiolates **32.1** in the presence of Eosin Y as the photocatalyst.⁹⁸

4.3. Other oxygen heterocycles

Tetrahydropyrans can be smoothly obtained *via* bromoetherification of alkenols in the presence of a Ru^{II} visible-light absorbing photocatalyst, that promotes the generation of bromine from CBr_4 (*via* the Br_3C^{\bullet} radical). The subsequent trapping of Br_2 by an aromatic pentenol followed by cyclization led to the desired tetrahydropyran.⁹⁹

A photocatalyzed ring enlargement/de-aromatization occurring on furan **33.1** and mimicking the Achmatowicz rearrangement was exploited for the synthesis of 2H-pyran-3(6H)-one **33.3**. Indeed, light induced fragmentation of the persulfate anion led to the formation of oxocarbenium ion **33.2**⁺, that, after loss of the X group, afforded **33.3**, a building block for bioactive compounds, including the bicyclic alkaloid monanchorin (Scheme 33).¹⁰⁰

A general photoredox-catalyzed intramolecular cyclization was developed for the synthesis of trifluoromethylated oxygenated heterocycles. The reaction proceeded smoothly under mild photocatalytic conditions with high functional group tolerance and a broad substrate scope.

To extend the protocol, alkynols **34.1** were used in the presence of the Umemoto's reagent along with various photoredox catalysts (*e.g. fac*-Ir(ppy)₃) under visible light irradiation to form six-membered trifluoromethylated cyclic enol ethers **34.2** in more than 70% yield (Scheme 34).¹⁰¹ The proposed mechanism involves the photogeneration of the F_3C radical, that is then trapped by **34.1** to form the corresponding vinyl radicals **34.3** stabilized by the adjacent aromatic ring. These radicals are then oxidized

to vinyl cations 34.3^+ , which can be attacked intramolecularly by the tethered heteroatom-based nucleophile to give the desired CF₃-substituted heterocycles.¹⁰¹



Scheme 32. Photocatalyzed synthesis of coumarins from aryl 3-phenylpropiolate esters.



Scheme 33. Preparation of the 2*H*-pyran-3(6*H*)-one core.

5. Larger than six-membered rings

Only a couple of examples on the photocatalyzed construction of rings containing more than six atoms have been reported and most of them are related to (differently saturated) oxepine derivatives. These compounds, as representative seven-membered cyclic ethers, are widely encountered structural motifs in many natural products and pharmaceuticals with a variety of physiological and biological activities. Thus, the development of efficient strategies to easily assemble this significant scaffold has received considerable attention.^{102,103}

An intramolecular cycloetherification was used for the synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[*c*]oxepine **35.2** (58% yield).¹⁰⁴ In this case, excitation of 1,4-dicyanonaphthalene (DCN) caused the oxidation of anisole **35.1** that upon a deprotonation/oxidation sequence generated the carbocation **35.3**⁺. Intramolecular nucleophilic addition of the -OH group completed the sequence (Scheme 35).¹⁰⁴

The reaction of (E)-1-(2-(allyloxy)aryl)-3-(dimethylamino)prop-2-en-1-ones **36.1** with BrCF₂COOEt was investigated under irradiation with white LEDs (30 W, Scheme 36). Catalyst screening demonstrated that [Ir(ppy)₂(dtbbpy)]PF₆ was the premium choice.¹⁰⁵ Addition of the [•]CF₂COOEt radical onto the propenyl group followed by a radical addition cascade process furnished the final products **36.2** in 33-64% yield.

The first visible-light-driven hydrocarboxylation of alkynes, as well as carbocarboxylation, was recently described by using CO₂ via iridium/cobalt dual catalysis. These transformations provided access to various pharmaceutically important heterocycles in a one-pot procedure from readily available alkynes (*e.g.* **37.1**). Benzoxepinones, such as **37.2**, (but also coumarins and 2-quinolones) were directly accessed through a one-pot alkyne hydrocarboxylation/alkene isomerization/cyclization sequence. The Ir-based photocatalyst has the dual role to promote a SET process in alkyne hydrocarboxylation and an energy transfer process for the subsequent alkene isomerization (Scheme 37).¹⁰⁶ It is worth noting that the hydrocarboxylation

proceeded with CO_2 insertion preferentially at the alkyl-substituted site. The choice of phosphine ligand was crucial, since the adoption of other ligands resulted in complete suppression of the reaction.



Scheme 34. Synthesis of pyrans 34.2 from alkynols 34.1.



Scheme 35. Photocatalyzed benzylic activation in anisole 35.1.



Scheme 36. Synthesis of CF₂-containing benzoxepinones.



Scheme 37. Photocatalyzed synthesis of a benzo[*c*]oxepin-3(*1H*)-one.

6. Conclusions

This book chapter provides an up-to-date review of the diverse photoredox catalytic approaches for the generation of radicals that lead to oxygen containing heterocycles/heteroaromatics. Since both photocatalysis and the synthesis of heterocycles represent key topics in modern organic chemistry, this compendium provides a review of their merging. Albeit the formation of three and four-membered rings (epoxides, oxetanes) is quite rare, several photocatalytic strategies to build five and six-membered rings, as well as larger heterocyclic rings, have been reported and collected here. Moreover, the number and variety of examples clearly underline the maturity of photoredox catalysis in accomplishing the task of generating highly energetic intermediates under mild conditions, affording novel and, wherever possible, simpler ways to construct heterocycles. These photochemical protocols are expected to furnish in the near future intriguing routes to the synthesis of a large variety of heterocyclic compounds.

Acknowledgements

P.Q. thanks "VIPCAT-Value Added Innovative Protocols for Catalytic Transformations" project (CUP: E46D17000110009) for valuable financial support. D.R. thanks the MIUR for financial support (SIR Project "Organic Synthesis *via* Visible Light Photocatalytic Hydrogen Transfer"; Code: RBSI145Y9R).

References

- Fischer, N. H.; Olivier, E. J.; Fischer, H. D. The Biogenesis and Chemistry of Sesquiterpene Lactones. In Fortschritte der Chemie organischer Naturstoffe/Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products; Herz, W., Grisebach, H., Kirby, G. W., Eds.; Herz, W., Grisebach, H., Kirby, G. W., Series Eds.; Springer Vienna: Vienna, 1979; Vol. 38, pp 47-320.
- 2. Rao, Y. S. Chem. Rev. 1976, 76, 625-694.
- 3. Heterocyclic Chemistry in Drug Discovery; Li, J. J., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, N.J., 2013.
- 4. Larrosa, I.; Romea, P.; Urpí, F. *Tetrahedron* **2008**, *64*, 2683-2723.
- 5. Palomo, C.; Oiarbide, M.; López, R. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 632-653.
- 6. Bella, M.; Gasperi, T. Synthesis 2009, 2009, 1583-1614.
- 7. Special issue, Eds. Houk, K. N.; List, B. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 487-631.
- 8. Special issue, Ed. List, B. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5413-5883.
- 9. Special issue, Eds. Kočovský, P.; Malkov, A. V. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 255-502.
- 10. Núñez, M. G.; García, P.; Moro, R. F.; Díez, D. Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 2089-2109.
- Nicolas, L.; Butkevich, A. N.; Guérinot, A.; Corbu, A.; Reymond, S.; Cossy, J. Pure Appl. Chem. 2013, 85, 1203-1213.
- 12. Pinto, M. M. M.; Sousa, M. E.; Nascimento, M. S. J. Curr. Med. Chem. 2005, 12, 2517-2538.
- 13. Pinto, M.; Castanheiro, R. Curr. Org. Chem. 2009, 13, 1215-1240.
- 14. Lakshmipathi, P.; Grée, D.; Grée, R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 451-454.
- Piva, O. Synthesis of Seven-Membered Ring Ethers and Lactones. In Synthesis of Saturated Oxygenated Heterocycles II; Cossy, J., Ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014; Vol. 36, pp 283-320.
- Mascareñas, J. L.; López, F. Synthesis of Oxygenated Heterocyclic Compounds via Gold-Catalyzed Functionalization of π-Systems. In Au-Catalyzed Synthesis and Functionalization of Heterocycles; Bandini, M., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2016; Vol. 46, pp 1-52.
- Ye, L.; Zhang, L. Synthesis of Oxygenated and Nitrogen-Containing Heterocycles by Gold-Catalyzed Alkyne Oxidation. In *Au-Catalyzed Synthesis and Functionalization of Heterocycles*; Bandini, M., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2016; Vol. 46, pp 87-115.
- 18. Fagnoni, M.; Dondi, D.; Ravelli, D.; Albini, A. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 2725-2756.
- 19. Prier, C. K.; Rankic, D. A.; MacMillan, D. W. C. Chem. Rev. 2013, 113, 5322-5363.
- 20. Ravelli, D.; Fagnoni, M.; Albini, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2013, 42, 97-113.
- 21. Fukuzumi, S.; Ohkubo, K. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2014, 12, 6059-6071.
- 22. Douglas, J. J.; Sevrin, M. J.; Stephenson, C. R. J. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2016, 20, 1134-1147.

- Ravelli, D.; Protti, S.; Fagnoni, M. Application of Visible and Solar Light in Organic Synthesis. In *Applied Photochemistry*; Bergamini, G., Silvi, S., Eds.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2016; Vol. 92, pp 281-342.
- 24. Romero, N. A.; Nicewicz, D. A. Chem. Rev. 2016, 116, 10075-10166.
- 25. *Photochemically-Generated Intermediates In Synthesis*; Albini, A., Fagnoni, M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, New Jersey, 2013.
- 26. Ravelli, D.; Protti, S.; Fagnoni, M. Chem. Rev. 2016, 116, 9850-9913.
- 27. Capaldo, L.; Ravelli, D. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2056-2071.
- 28. Tyson, E. L.; Farney, E. P.; Yoon, T. P. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 1110-1113.
- 29. Suga, S.; Watanabe, M.; Yoshida, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 14824-14825.
- 30. Zhou, L.; Lokman Hossain, M.; Xiao, T. Chem. Rec. 2016, 16, 319-334.
- 31. Fagnoni, M. Heterocycles 2003, 60, 1921-1958.
- 32. Xuan, J.; Lu, L.-Q.; Chen, J.-R.; Xiao, W.-J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 2013, 6755-6770.
- Wang, R.; Jiang, H.; Cheng, Y.; Kadi, A.; Fun, H.-K.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, S. Synthesis 2014, 46, 2711-2726.
- 34. Xie, J.; Jin, H.; Xu, P.; Zhu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2014, 55, 36-48.
- 35. Chen, J.-R.; Hu, X.-Q.; Lu, L.-Q.; Xiao, W.-J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2016, 49, 1911-1923.
- 36. Menigaux, D.; Belmont, P.; Brachet, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2008-2055.
- 37. Boubertakh, O.; Goddard, J.-P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2072-2084.
- Crespi, S.; Fagnoni, M. Photocatalyzed Formation of Heterocycles. In *Free-Radical Synthesis and Functionalization of Heterocycles*; Landais, Y., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2018; Vol. 54, pp 1-69.
- 39. Fagnoni, M.; Mella, M.; Albini, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7877-7881.
- 40. Ortgies, S.; Rieger, R.; Rode, K.; Koszinowski, K.; Kind, J.; Thiele, C. M.; Rehbein, J.; Breder, A. ACS Catal. 2017, 7, 7578-7586.
- 41. Martiny, M.; Steckhan, E.; Esch, T. Chem. Ber. 1993, 126, 1671-1682.
- 42. Zhang, J.; Chen, X.; Takanabe, K.; Maeda, K.; Domen, K.; Epping, J. D.; Fu, X.; Antonietti, M.; Wang, X. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 441-444.
- 43. Michelet, B.; Deldaele, C.; Kajouj, S.; Moucheron, C.; Evano, G. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 3576-3579.
- 44. Gao, F.; Wang, J.-T.; Liu, L.-L.; Ma, N.; Yang, C.; Gao, Y.; Xia, W. Chem. Commun. 2017, 53, 8533-8536.
- 45. Li, J.; Wang, D. Z. Org. Lett. 2015, 17, 5260-5263.
- 46. Jafarpour, M.; Feizpour, F.; Rezaeifard, A. Synlett 2016, 27, 235-238.
- 47. Kim, E.; Choi, S.; Kim, H.; Cho, E. J. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 6209-6212.
- 48. Rupprecht, J. K.; Hui, Y.-H.; McLaughlin, J. L. J. Nat. Prod. 1990, 53, 237-278.
- 49. Lorente, A.; Lamariano-Merketegi, J.; Albericio, F.; Alvarez, M. Chem. Rev. 2013, 113, 4567-4610.
- 50. Hamilton, D. S.; Nicewicz, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 18577-18580.
- 51. Ohkubo, K.; Mizushima, K.; Iwata, R.; Souma, K.; Suzuki, N.; Fukuzumi, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 601-603.
- 52. Grandjean, J.-M. M.; Nicewicz, D. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 3967-3971.
- 53. Zhou, Y.; Wang, J.; Gu, Z.; Wang, S.; Zhu, W.; Aceña, J. L.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Izawa, K.; Liu, H. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 422-518.
- 54. Sommer, H.; Braun, M.; Schröder, B.; Kirschning, A. Synlett 2018, 29, 121-125.
- 55. Mandhapati, A. R.; Shcherbakov, D.; Duscha, S.; Vasella, A.; Böttger, E. C.; Crich, D. ChemMedChem 2014, 9, 2074-2083.
- 56. Noto, N.; Koike, T.; Akita, M. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 7064-7071.
- 57. Lin, R.; Sun, H.; Yang, C.; Shen, W.; Xia, W. Chem. Commun. 2015, 51, 399-401.
- 58. Hopkinson, M. N.; Sahoo, B.; Glorius, F. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2014, 356, 2794-2800.
- 59. Li, W.; Yang, C.; Gao, G.-L.; Xia, W. Synlett 2016, 27, 1391-1396.
- 60. Neumann, M.; Zeitler, K. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 6950-6955.
- 61. Gu, X.; Lu, P.; Fan, W.; Li, P.; Yao, Y. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2013, 11, 7088-7091.
- 62. Rackl, D.; Kais, V.; Lutsker, E.; Reiser, O. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2130-2138.

- 63. Blum, T. R.; Zhu, Y.; Nordeen, S. A.; Yoon, T. P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 11056-11059.
- 64. Song, T.; Zhou, B.; Peng, G.-W.; Zhang, Q.-B.; Wu, L.-Z.; Liu, Q.; Wang, Y. Chem. Eur. J. 2014, 20, 678-682.
- 65. Guo, W.; Lu, L.-Q.; Wang, Y.; Wang, Y.-N.; Chen, J.-R.; Xiao, W.-J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 2265-2269.
- 66. Tarantino, K. T.; Liu, P.; Knowles, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 10022-10025.
- Guo, W.; Cheng, H.-G.; Chen, L.-Y.; Xuan, J.; Feng, Z.-J.; Chen, J.-R.; Lu, L.-Q.; Xiao, W.-J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2014, 356, 2787-2793.
- 68. Wei, X.-J.; Yang, D.-T.; Wang, L.; Song, T.; Wu, L.-Z.; Liu, Q. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 6054-6057.
- 69. Cavanaugh, C. L.; Nicewicz, D. A. Org. Lett. 2015, 17, 6082-6085.
- 70. Zeller, M. A.; Riener, M.; Nicewicz, D. A. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 4810-4813.
- 71. Sha, W.; Zhang, W.; Ni, S.; Mei, H.; Han, J.; Pan, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 9824-9831.
- 72. Kaplaneris, N.; Bisticha, A.; Papadopoulos, G. N.; Limnios, D.; Kokotos, C. G. Green Chem. 2017, 19, 4451-4456.
- 73. Triandafillidi, I.; Kokotou, M. G.; Kokotos, C. G. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 36-39.
- 74. Patil, D. V.; Yun, H.; Shin, S. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2015, 357, 26222628.
- 75. Jiang, H.; Cheng, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, S. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 4884-4887.
- 76. Zhou, H.; Deng, X.; Ma, Z.; Zhang, A.; Qin, Q.; Tan, R. X.; Yu, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2016, 14, 6065-6070.
- 77. Wang, S.; Jia, W.-L.; Wang, L.; Liu, Q.; Wu, L.-Z. Chem. Eur. J. 2016, 22, 13794-13798.
- 78. Cheng, J.; Cheng, Y.; Xie, J.; Zhu, C. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 6452-6455.
- Xia, Z.; Khaled, O.; Mouriès-Mansuy, V.; Ollivier, C.; Fensterbank, L. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 7182-7190.
- 80. Chizzali, C.; Beerhues, L. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2012, 8, 613-620.
- 81. Martel, R. R.; Rochefort, J. G.; Klicius, J.; Dobson, T. A. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 1974, 52, 669-673.
- Lin, R.-D.; Chen, M.-C.; Liu, Y.-L.; Lin, Y.-T.; Lu, M.-K.; Hsu, F.-L.; Lee, M.-H. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2015, 16, 28598-28613.
- Zhang, L.; Zhang, Y.-X.; Hu, Y.; Shi, X.-B.; Jiang, Z.-Q.; Wang, Z.-K.; Liao, L.-S. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2016, 8, 16186-16191.
- 84. Cho, J. Y.; Roh, G.; Cho, E. J. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 805-811.
- 85. Fava, E.; Nakajima, M.; Nguyen, A. L. P.; Rueping, M. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 6959-6964.
- 86. Yang, Z.; Li, H.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, M.-T.; Cheng, J.-P.; Luo, S. Chem. Eur. J. 2015, 21, 14723-14727.
- Xiang, H.; Zhao, Q.; Tang, Z.; Xiao, J.; Xia, P.; Wang, C.; Yang, C.; Chen, X.; Yang, H. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 146-149.
- 88. Yasu, Y.; Arai, Y.; Tomita, R.; Koike, T.; Akita, M. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 780-783.
- 89. Sha, W.; Ni, S.; Han, J.; Pan, Y. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 5900-5903.
- 90. Anselmo, M.; Moni, L.; Ismail, H.; Comoretto, D.; Riva, R.; Basso, A. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2017, 13, 1456-1462.
- Wolfe, J. P.; Neukom, J. D.; Mai, D. H. Synthesis of Saturated Five-Membered Nitrogen Heterocycles via Pd-Catalyzed C-N Bond-Forming Reactions. In *Catalyzed Carbon-Heteroatom Bond Formation*; Yudin, A. K., Ed.; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA: Weinheim, Germany, 2010; pp 1-34.
- 92. Liu, C.; Yuan, J.; Gao, M.; Tang, S.; Li, W.; Shi, R.; Lei, A. Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 12138-12204.
- 93. Shao, A.; Zhan, J.; Li, N.; Chiang, C.-W.; Lei, A. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 3582-3589.
- 94. Yang, Q.; Jia, Z.; Li, L.; Zhang, L.; Luo, S. Org. Chem. Front. 2018, 5, 237-241.
- 95. Morack, T.; Metternich, J. B.; Gilmour, R. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 1316-1319.
- 96. Crespi, S.; Jäger, S.; König, B.; Fagnoni, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2147-2153.
- 97. Feng, S.; Xie, X.; Zhang, W.; Liu, L.; Zhong, Z.; Xu, D.; She, X. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 3846-3849.
- 98. Yang, W.; Yang, S.; Li, P.; Wang, L. Chem. Commun. 2015, 51, 7520-7523.
- 99. Lin, R.; Sun, H.; Yang, C.; Yang, Y.; Zhao, X.; Xia, W. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2015, 11, 31-36.
- 100. Plutschack, M. B.; Seeberger, P. H.; Gilmore, K. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 30-33.
- 101. Han, H. S.; Oh, E. H.; Jung, Y.-S.; Han, S. B. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 1698-1702.

- 102. Wang, W.; Clay, A.; Krishnan, R.; Lajkiewicz, N. J.; Brown, L. E.; Sivaguru, J.; Porco, J. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56, 14479-14482.
- 103. Illuminati, G.; Mandolini, L. Acc. Chem. Res. 1981, 14, 95-102.
- 104. Pandey, G.; Pal, S.; Laha, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 5146-5149.
- 105. Xiang, H.; Zhao, Q.-L.; Xia, P.-J.; Xiao, J.-A.; Ye, Z.-P.; Xie, X.; Sheng, H.; Chen, X.-Q.; Yang, H. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 1363-1366.
- 106. Hou, J.; Ee, A.; Feng, W.; Xu, J.-H.; Zhao, Y.; Wu, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140, 5257-5263.